IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 01-775

GREGORY MILLS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TODD G. SCHER
Litigation Director
Capital Collateral Regional
Counsel-South
101 NE 3d Avenue Suite 400
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
This proceeding involves the appeal of an order denying Mr. Mills' second Rule
3.850 motion following an evidentiary hearing. The following symbols will be used
to designate references to the record in this appeal:
"R" record on direct appeal to this Court;
"PC-R" record on instant appeal to this Court;
"T" transcript of the proceedings below.
All other citations will be self explanatory.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Mr. Mills was indicted in the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, Seminole County, Florida, for first-degree felony murder and related offenses, and pled not guilty.

Trial commenced before Circuit Judge J. William Woodson on Thursday, August 16, 1979, and the jury returned guilty verdicts the next day. After a penalty phase, the jury recommended that Mr. Mills be sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for at least twenty-five (25) years. On April 18, 1980, the trial court overrode the jury's life recommendation and sentenced Mr. Mills to death, finding six (6) aggravating circumstances: (1) under sentence of imprisonment; (2) previous conviction of violent felony; (3) great risk of death to many persons; (4) felony murder; (5) pecuniary gain; and (6) heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Addressing only statutory mitigating factors, the court found that no mitigating circumstances had been established.

The conviction for first-degree felony murder and sentence of death were affirmed by the Florida Supreme Court in a 5-2 decision. Mills v. State, 476 So. 2d

¹The jury found Mr. Mills guilt of felony murder, aggravated battery, and burglary.

²The trial judge's sentencing order stated: "there are sufficient aggravating circumstances as specified in 921.141 and <u>insufficient mitigating circumstances</u> therein that a sentence of death is justified" (R. 642).

172 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1031 (1986). The Court, however, vacated the aggravated battery conviction because "we do not believe it proper to convict a person for aggravated battery and simultaneously for homicide as a result of one shotgun blast." Id. at 177. The Court also struck three (3) of the aggravating circumstances found by the trial court. The "great risk of death to many persons" aggravating factor was struck because "[t]he finding that Mills knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons was, as the state conceded, erroneous." Id. at 178. The pecuniary gain factor was struck due to improper doubling with the felony murder aggravating factor.

Id. Lastly, the Florida Supreme Court struck the "heinous, atrocious, or cruel" aggravator as inapplicable to the facts of the case. Id.

Following the signing of a death warrant, a postconviction motion pursuant to Fla. R. Crim P. 3.850 was filed and summarily denied. On appeal, the Florida Supreme Court remanded the case for an evidentiary hearing "in regards to counsel's failure to develop and present evidence that would tend to establish statutory or nonstatutory mental health mitigating circumstances." Mills v. Dugger, 559 So. 2d 578, 579 (Fla. 1990). The Court also denied a request for state habeas corpus relief. Id.³

³In his state habeas petition, Mr. Mills challenged, *inter alia*, the constitutionality of the Florida Supreme Court's purported harmless error analysis on direct appeal. Justice Barkett would have granted habeas relief on this issue. Mills, 559 So. 2d at 579 (Barkett, J., concurring specially).

Following the evidentiary hearing and the lower court's order denying relief, the Florida Supreme Court, in a sharply divided vote, affirmed. Mills v. State, 603 So. 2d 482 (Fla. 1992).

Subsequent to the decisions in Stringer v. Black, 503 U.S. 222 (1992), and Sochor v. Florida, 504 U.S. 527 (1992), Mr. Mills sought habeas corpus relief in the Florida Supreme Court challenging both the adequacy of that Court's harmless error analysis in his case as well as the application of the "during the course of a felony" aggravating circumstance. The Florida Supreme Court held that Sochor was not new law under Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980), and therefore the claim, raised for the second time, was procedurally barred. Mills v. Singletary, 606 So. 2d 622, 623 (Fla. 1992). The Court ruled in the alternative that "[w]e . . . applied, and applied correctly, a harmless error analysis in Mills' direct appeal." Id. at 623. Regarding the claim that the felony-murder aggravating factor is an unconstitutional automatic aggravating circumstance, the Court held: "We considered and rejected the substance of this claim on direct appeal." Id.

Mr. Mills sought habeas corpus relief in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida. During the pendency of the petition, the district court entered an order requesting supplemental briefing on the jury override issues presented in the petition. Following the submission of briefs, the district court entered judgment

against Mr. Mills, and the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed. Mills v. Singletary, 161 F. 3d 1273 (11th Cir. 1998), cert. denied, 120 S.Ct. 804 (2000).

Following the decisions by the United States Supreme Court in Apprendi v. New Jersey, 120 S.Ct. 2348 (2000), and Fiore v. White, 121 S.Ct. 712 (2001), as well as the decision by the Florida Supreme Court in Keen v. State, 775 So. 2d 263 (Fla. 2000), Mr. Mills sought habeas corpus relief in the Florida Supreme Court. While the petition was pending, Mr. Mills' death warrant was signed. Oral argument was conducted on April 2, 2001, and a sharply-divided decision denying relief was issued in the late afternoon of April 12, 2001. Mills v. Moore, No. SC01-338 (Fla. April 12, 2001).

On April 16, 2001, Mr. Mills filed a second rule 3.850 motion. A <u>Huff</u> hearing was conducted that same day, and the lower court granted an evidentiary hearing on Claim I. The evidentiary hearing occurred in the afternoon of April 17, 2001. The lower court entered an order denying relief in an order emailed to counsel in the afternoon of April 18, 2001. The lower court's order also indicated that it was being treated as a notice of appeal (thus obviating the ability of Mr. Mills to seek rehearing). This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

- 1. Newly discovered evidence establishes that Mr. Mills is entitled to a new trial; in the alternative, this new evidence establishes a reasonable basis for the jury's life recommendation. The lower court erred in analyzing Mr. Mills' claim and applied an erroneous legal standard, particularly as to the sentencing issue. The test is not a subjective one, that is, whether or not, in light of what the lower court knows about the sentencing judge, this new evidence would have changed the sentencing judge's mind. Rather, the test is an objective one, that is, whether this new information, in conjunction with the previous mitigation, would preclude a reasonable judge following the law from overriding the jury's life recommendation. This standard has clearly been met in Mr. Mills' case.
- 2. Newly discovered evidence in the form of an affidavit indicating that Vincent Ashley confessed to shooting the victim warrants relief either in the form of an evidentiary hearing or a new sentencing proceeding pursuant to Thompson v. State, 731 So. 2d 1235 (Fla. 1998). Moreover, just-disclosed documents reveal that the original order summarily denying Mr. Mills' first 3.850 motion was drafted by the State on an *ex parte* basis. This requires relief pursuant to Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993), and Rose v. State, 601 So. 2d 1181 (Fla. 1992). The State had the duty to disclose this to Mr. Mills' previous collateral counsel. Had counsel been aware, he

would have sought to disqualify Judge Woodson from presiding over Mr. Mills' evidentiary hearing. Due to the fact that the State failed to disclose this until now, Mr. Mills must be put back in a position where he should have been in 1989 when the *ex parte* communications occurred resulting in the drafting of the order.

- 3. The State's concession before this Court during oral argument that the "during the course of a felony" aggravating circumstance is an automatic aggravating circumstance requires Mr. Mills' previous claim on this issue to be revisited. The "automatic" aggravating circumstance in this case violates the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.
- 4. The lower court erred in denying many of Mr. Mills' requests for public records pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852.

ARGUMENT I

NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE WARRANTS A NEW TRIAL AND/OR ESTABLISHES A FURTHER REASONABLE BASIS FOR THE JURY'S RECOMMENDED SENTENCE OF LIFE WHICH PRECLUDES THE OVERRIDE.

In his Rule 3.850 motion, Mr. Mills alleged that newly-discovered evidence established that the co-defendant in this case, Vincent Ashley, had provided Mr. Mills' counsel with a completely different version of the events of May 25, 1974, and that this new version completely eviscerated Ashley's credibility, thereby providing a newly-discovered reasonable basis for the jury's recommendation of life. The lower court granted an evidentiary hearing, and Ashley was transported from South Bay Correctional Institution, where he is now serving a life sentence for a 1985 armed robbery. As explained below, Ashley refused to testify even in the face of the threat of contempt by the lower court. The State then suggested that the parties speak to Ashley about his concerns over testifying. During that conference, Ashley indicated that things would get "complicated" for him if he answered Mr. Mills' questions; in fact, he disclosed that he might testify that he was the shooter.⁴

⁴Ashley was released shortly after testifying at Mr. Mills' trial. On May 25, 1980, the individual whom the State cut loose on a string of robberies and burglaries, not to mention the Wright burglary and murder, was re-arrested for destruction of property, disorderly conduct, resisting arrest with violence, and aggravated assault/strongarm

Despite finding that "[t]he version of events contained in Claim I differs from Ashley's testimony at the trial in certain details," the lower court concluded that "showing the jury that the witness had credibility problems through another inconsistent statement would not have mattered" (PCR. 542). As to the effects on the sentencing in terms of the jury's recommendation, the lower court, acknowledging that this was "the most troubling aspect of this case" (Id.), nonetheless concluded that the new evidence would not have made a difference "to the judge who imposed the sentence" (PCR. 542-43). Mr. Mills submits that the lower court erroneously analyzed the evidence and applied an incorrect legal standard as to the affect of this newly-discovered evidence on the outcome of the sentencing proceedings.

1. Ashley's New Version.

After the clerk attempted to swear Ashley in, Ashley's response was: "I swear the testimony I'm gonna give is gonna be nothing" (T. 44). The Court then attempted to administer the oath, but Ashley stated "I'm not going to testify to nothing period"

battery on a police officer. He was convicted of the resisting with violence and aggravated assault charges, and sentenced to five (5) years state prison. According to the rap sheet provided by FDLE on April 13, 2001, Ashley was apparently released on January 20, 1984. On October 29, 1986, Ashley was again arrested and charged with armed robbery; he was convicted and sentenced to life imprisonment. Moreover, Ashley's DOC records, disclosed to Mr. Mills' counsel on April 18, 2001, show numerous violent episodes resulting in disciplinary sanctions.

(<u>Id</u>.). He then stated that "I'm protecting my right and protecting my soul" (<u>Id</u>. at 45). Mr. Mills' counsel then inquired about Ashley's trial testimony, to which Ashley cut off counsel:

MR. ASHLEY: No. We're gonna stop that right there 'cause I ain't no sucker, man. I'm not gonna get rebellious or anything like that, but I ain't no fool, I ain't no sucker. I told you what I'm gonna do, that's what I'm gonna do. I'm straight. But I ain't -- I repeat, I ain't no fool and I ain't no sucker.

(<u>Id</u>. at 46).

The court then instructed Ashley to either answer the questions posed to him or be held in contempt of court:

THE COURT: Well, I'm here in a motion to determine whether or not the questions that you answer today are going to be any different from the questions that you answered back then [at trial]. Because I've been asked to make a judgment as to whether or not this man sitting over here should be subject to living or dying. That's a pretty important question about this man's life. And you are the only person so far that I can tell on this earth that his lawyer believes is a person that might be able to testify about this event that would help him. So, it's pretty serious, and you have to decide whether you want to remain with us under contempt citation or if you want to testify.

(<u>Id</u>. at 48). Mr. Mills' counsel then inquired again whether Ashley would answer questions, and the following ensued:

MR. SCHER: After having heard that, Mr. Ashley, is your

opinion still the same about answering my questions?

MR. ASHLEY: Look in my eyes.

MR. SCHER: I would like you to answer my question, Mr. Ashley. Are you gonna refuse to testify?

MR. ASHLEY: Look in my eyes.

MR. SCHER: That's not an answer Mr. Ashley. Will you refuse to testify about these matters here today?

MR. ASHLEY: I'm not gonna keep going over the same thing, man. I'm not gonna keep repeating myself. I ain't -- I'm not crazy, I'm no fool.

(<u>Id</u>.). Thereupon the court had Ashley removed from the courtroom (<u>Id</u>.).

At this point, counsel requested to proffer what Ashley had told him during interviews the previous week; initially the State agreed, and wanted counsel to have his investigator testify (the investigator was present during one of the two interviews conducted by counsel with Ashley) (Id. at 49). Just as the investigator was beginning his testimony, the State decided that perhaps a discussion with Ashley would be beneficial to "reassure[] him that he has nothing to fear from the authorities if he testifies truthfully here today" (Id. at 52). Mr. Mills' counsel responded that the allegations were that Ashley had lied at trial, and thus "I don't know that the Attorney General can be in a position of assuring him, unless they're gonna give him immunity as to anything arising from his testimony here today" (Id. at 54). In response, the

Attorney General stated that he and the prosecutor "can take care of ourselves, Judge" (Id.).

Thereupon, the parties went into the jury room and Ashley was brought in. Mr. Nunelley asked Ashley about his concerns over testifying, to which Ashley responded:

MR. ASHLEY: 'Cause I don't feel comfortable. I mean, you know, back in the days, you know and all of that, you know, and I did what I did. Whatever happened happened, you know, but now that, from within, I just don't feel comfortable, you know, not saying something, you know, that, you know, that could but a man to death or whatever, you know. 'Cause Greg is no . . . he's no enemy of mine. I say I was just a fool, we were just fools, ah, and I did what I did, I done what I done, you know. May God forgive me for all of that, and he have, you know. I'm not gonna make something anew, afresh. I can't do it. My soul can't live with that.

MR. NUNNELLEY: So are you telling me, sir, Mr. Ashley, that your testimony at trial was the truth?

MR. ASHLEY: See, that's the thing. I don't even --Man, you know, I don't even want to say nothing. I don't want to give or take, you know, 'cause if I... I'm frustrated about it, you know. If I say anything, it's gonna complicate the matter.

MR. CARTER: What do you mean by complicate the matter?

MR. ASHLEY: I might tell you anything now. I might tell you I pulled the trigger.

MR. CARTER: And what would be your purpose of stating

that?

MR. ASHLEY: To keep from answering question after question, question after question. Because human can ask any question and I'm not gonna answer every question. But I'll say ... I'll say this. No, I'm not even gonna say that. You know, I did what I did, you know, you do what you do. You know, 'cause I'm not gonna, you know, have an extra chip on my shoulder, no other burden.

MR. CARTER: Just to understand, make sure, your refusal to testify is based on your soul can't handle it as opposed to you're afraid you're gonna get in trouble for it? 'Cause as you said, you did what you did and you've done what you done. The State did what it did and the State's done what its' done, and so therefore, we entered into an agreement with you, and that agreement is still binding, meaning we cannot prosecute you for the homicide or the robbery or the burglary that you were given immunity for way back when.

MR. ASHLEY: It has nothing to do with that, none of that.

MR. CARTER: Okay.

MR. NUNNELLEY: He's not gonna testify. Okay.

(<u>Id</u>. at 56-58).

Upon returning to the Court, Mr. Mills orally amended his motion to include Ashley's statements; there was no objection to the oral amendment. Moreover, the State stipulated to the facts as alleged in Mr. Mills' 3.850 regarding Ashley's new version, which provided:

According to what Ashley told the undersigned, when he

and Mr. Mills decided that the Wright home looked like a good place to enter because it was dark and appeared vacant, he and Mr. Mills parked their bicycles and went up to the window. As he did indicate at trial, Ashley had the gun while Mr. Mills crawled inside the window into the house. However, Ashley adamantly denied ever going into the Wright residence. He stated that he remained outside the window while Mr. Mills entered the home. Ashley said he could see inside the house into the Wright's bedroom from where he remained outside, and that after he heard the shuffling of feet like someone was putting on shoes or slides, he moved off to the side so he could not be seen looking into the window. Then, Ashley said, he heard a shot. After the shot, he ran away from the house toward the sidewalk near the tree where the bicycles were. Mr. Mills came out the front door of the house and ran toward where Ashley was running, and they both then ran to a nearby ditch where they hid out for a while. Mr. Mills had the gun with him as they ran to the ditch. Ashley and Mr. Mills remained in the ditch for a few minutes while they gathered their thoughts, then they went back to the house, walking along the sidewalk, until they reached the tree where their bicycles were. At some point between arriving at the ditch and walking back to the Wright house, Ashley no longer saw the gun. They both got on their bicycles and went their separate ways. Ashley said that his trial testimony about having actually been inside the Wright house and having seen what he testified to was a lie.

(PCR. 385) (emphasis added).

2. Mr. Mills is Entitled to Relief.

Mr. Mills is entitled to a new trial, as the newly discovered evidence would probably produce an acquittal on retrial. Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911, 915 (Fla.

1991). The lower court did not analyze this issue as to the effect on the guilt phase, other than to summarily conclude that it "would not have mattered." That is not a correct legal analysis. Rather, the lower court was required to

consider all newly discovered evidence which would be admissible and determine whether such evidence, had it been introduced at the trial, would have probably resulted in an acquittal. In reaching this conclusion, the judge will necessarily have to evaluate the weight of both the newly discovered evidence and the evidence which was introduced at the trial.

<u>Id</u>. at 916. Here, the lower court failed to conduct the proper <u>Jones</u> analysis and failed to conduct any analysis as to the probability of an acquittal in light of the record as it now stands.

It is beyond dispute that Ashley was the State's key witness against Mr. Mills.⁵

IT IS HEREBY agreed between the State of Florida, by and through the undersigned Assistant State Attorney, and Vincent LeRoy Ashley, hereafter referred to as "witness," that witness shall henceforth be granted immunity from prosecution for all his acts arising out of the following:

- 1. Burglary to the Wright residence, Sanford, Florida, on May 25, 1979, and subsequent shooting death of James A. Wright.
- 2. Burglary to residence of John Fox, Sanford, Florida, on May 8, 1979.

⁵In exchange for his testimony, Ashley was the beneficiary of an extensive immunity deal:

- 3. Robbery of Lanny Lockner, and other related charges of May 9, 1979.
- 4. Any and all other robberies between May 8, 1979, and this date occurring in Seminole County, Florida, and about which witness is called upon by the State to testify fully and truthfully to.

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