IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GREGORY MILLS,

DEATH WARRANT SIGNED: EXECUTION

SCHEDULED FOR MAY 2, 2001,

AT 6:00 P.M.

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

CASE NO. SC01-775

Appellee.

Appellant,

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #0998818

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH Fla. Bar #438847 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990 FAX (904) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The collateral proceeding trial court properly denied all relief. That Court's disposition of the issues contained in the Rule 3.850 motion was correct, is supported by competent substantial evidence, and should not be disturbed.

 $^{^{5}}$ This stipulation was consistent with the State's argument at the Huff hearing that, even taking the allegations of Claim I as true, there was no basis for an evidentiary hearing, or for relief. (R21-23).

⁶Ashley admitted at trial that he had changed his version of the events of the murder. (RDA278).

ARGUMENT

I. THE "NEW EVIDENCE" CLAIM7

THE LEGAL STANDARD

In addressing claims of newly discovered evidence in the context of under-warrant litigation, the Florida Supreme Court held:

In *Jones v. State*, 709 So.2d 512 (Fla. 1998), this Court reiterated the standard that must be met in order for a conviction to be set aside based upon newly discovered evidence:

First, in order to be considered newly discovered, the evidence "must have been unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that defendant or his counsel could not have known [of it] by use of diligence." Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger, 636 So.2d 1321, 1324-25 (Fla. 1994).

Second, the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial. *Jones*, 591 So.2d at 911, 915. To reach this conclusion the trial court is required to "consider all newly discovered evidence which would be admissible" at trial and then evaluate the "weight of both the newly discovered evidence and the evidence which was introduced at the trial."

Id. at 521.

Glock v. Moore, 776 So. 2d 243 (Fla. 2001). See also, Demps v. State, 761 So. 2d 302, 305-6 (Fla. 2000). With respect to the timeliness of a claim of "newly discovered evidence," the Glock

⁷This claim, as pleaded by Mills, is directed solely toward his sentence of death. The conviction is not at issue.

Court expressly reiterated the one-year requirement:

As to the first prong of Jones, any claim of newly discovered evidence in a death penalty case must be brought within one year of the date such evidence was discovered or could have been discovered through the exercise of due diligence. See Buenoano v. State, 708 So.2d 941, 947-48 (Fla. 1998); see also Fla. R.Crim. Pro. 3.851(b)(4) (providing for extension of time for filing of motion for postconviction relief where counsel makes a showing of good cause for the inability to file the postconviction pleadings within the one-year time period).

Glock v. Moore, supra. [emphasis added].

The standard applied to a claim of newly discovered evidence is the same regardless of whether the "evidence" is applicable at the guilt or penalty phase of Mills' capital trial:

In order to provide relief, "newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial. The same standard would be applicable if the issue were whether a life or a death sentence should have been imposed." *Jones v. State*, 591 So.2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1991).

Kight v. State, 2001 WL 40377 (Fla. Jan. 18, 2001).

THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY DENIED RELIEF

Mills' "newly discovered evidence" claim is predicated upon an allegation that co-defendant Vincent Leroy Ashley testified differently at trial than his most recent recount of the events of the murder to CCRC staff. The Circuit Court denied relief on this claim, stating:

The defendant called Ashley as a witness but he refused to testify. The court instructed Ashley as follows:

THE COURT: Mr. Ashley, you've been subpoenaed here for the purpose of testifying in this

case, and I'm going to instruct you that it's your duty and responsibility to answer the questions that are put to you. If you fail to respond to the questions that are put to you you're subjecting yourself to a contempt charge and while that might not sound all that serious to you because of the fact you're serving a life sentence, it can have some affect on you because I don't have to impose that sentence until I feel like it. And you might be with us here for awhile.

After receiving that instruction, Ashley still refused to testify. The court removed Ashley from the court room and discussed possible alternatives with counsel. The State suggested that a conference with Mr. Ashley might be of benefit so counsel for the state and counsel for the defendant had a conference with Ashley in the jury room with the court reporter present. The conference was not productive. In fact, Ashley told the lawyers he might say anything, including that he was the one that pulled the trigger. This statement was subsequently taken out of context by defense counsel but it was made for the purpose of dissuading the lawyers from calling him as a witness and not an announcement that his testimony had changed.

After counsel reported back to the court room, the State offered to stipulate that if Ashley had testified he would have testified as alleged in Claim I. The defense accepted that stipulation and the matter proceeded to argument.

There really is nothing new here. The version of events contained in Claim I differs from Ashley's testimony at the trial in certain details. But, if the details matter, the version of events in Claim I establish that Ashley remained outside of the residence during the burglary while the defendant entered the residence alone. If this statement had been placed before the jury it would have simply been another inconsistent statement made by this witness. The jury already knew Ashley had lied about his involvement in the murder shortly after it happened and they knew he was an accomplice who had received absolute immunity from prosecution for his role in it. Thus, showing the jury that the witness had credibility problems through another inconsistent statement would not have mattered.

(R540-542). [emphasis added]. The Circuit Court denied relief, concluding that:

The court is now being called upon to determine if the "newly discovered evidence" would have made a difference to the judge who imposed the sentence. The court concludes that it would not have made a difference. See, Jones v. State, 591 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1992).

(R542-543).

The Circuit Court applied the well-settled Jones standard, and, in doing so, found that there was no reasonable probability of a different result had the sentencing judge heard that Ashley remained outside the victim's residence and that Mills entered the residence alone. The Court explained: "If this statement had been placed before the jury it would have simply been another inconsistent statement made by this witness." (R542). Ashley's inconsistent statements merely reaffirmed what the sentencing judge well knew about Ashley's credibility when he sentenced Mills to death.

Moreover, given that the "new" version of Ashley's testimony makes Mills more, rather than less, culpable, there is no reasonable probability of a different result. See, Sims v. State, 754 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 2000); Sims v. State, 750 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1999). The Circuit Court properly applied the law, and its findings are supported by competent substantial evidence. This Court should not substitute its judgment for that of the Circuit Court. Melendez v. State, 718 So. 2d 746, 748 (Fla. 1998); Demps v. State, 462 So.

2d 1074 (Fla. 1984).

The Circuit Court did not pass on the due diligence/timeliness component of Jones and its progeny. However, given that Ashley has been incarcerated in the Florida Department of Corrections since 1985, and could have been interviewed by Mills' counsel at any time, Mills cannot establish that this "claim" is brought within the one-year period allowed under Jones. That procedural bar is not overcome by the fact that present counsel waited until the death warrant had been signed before interviewing Ashley. No attempt has been made to establish the timeliness of this claim, and that deficiency is an additional basis for the denial of relief. Jones.

To the extent that further discussion of the newly discovered evidence claim is necessary, Florida law is settled that, with respect to such claims:

This Court has held that defendants must satisfy two requirements in order to have a conviction set aside on the basis of newly discovered evidence:

First ... newly discovered ... evidence "must have been unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that defendant or his counsel could not have known [of it] by the use of due diligence."

Second, the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial....

In considering the second prong, the trial court should initially consider whether the evidence would have been admissible at trial or whether there would have been any evidentiary bars to its admissibility.... The trial court should further consider the materiality and relevance of the evidence and any inconsistencies in the newly

discovered evidence.

Jones v. State, 709 So.2d 512, 521 (Fla. 1998) (quoting Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger, 636 So.2d at 1324-25) (alteration in original) (citations omitted).

State v. Riechmann, 777 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 2000). In this case, it is significant that the trial testimony of Sylvester Davis was consistent with the trial testimony of Vincent Ashley -- both witnesses testified, in relevant part, that Ashley entered, and then exited, the victim's residence. (R248-49; 106). That sort of convergent corroboration is significant, and is properly considered in assessing whether there is a reasonable probability of a different result. In this case, based upon this evidence, there is no such probability. The Circuit Court's ruling should not be disturbed.

Further, the inconsistent nature of this claim is readily apparent when Mills' penalty phase strategy is considered. At the penalty phase of his capital trial, Mills argued that:

Vincent Ashley was in the classic sense a **co-Defendant of Gregory Mills**. Vincent Ashley was there. Vincent Ashley
admitted his participation, having participation in all
of the events which surround the killing of Mr. Wright.

(Supp. R. 96) [emphasis added]. Whatever Mills' guilt phase theory may have been, his penalty phase theory was that he should not be sentenced to death when an equally culpable co-defendant had received immunity for the crime. Rather than furthering that

⁸Davis testified about facts related to him by Mills. (R105).

theory, the "new" Ashley testimony significantly **reduces** Ashley's culpability. Because that is so, there is no reasonable probability of a different result had the "new" version of events been before the sentencing judge. There is no basis for relief.

To the extent that Mills may argue that Ashley's statement that "he might say anything" is "new evidence," that argument takes Ashley's comment out of context, as the Circuit Court found. (R541). The Circuit Court was in the best position to evaluate Ashley's credibility and demeanor, as well as the context of the comment at issue. As this Court has said, in the same context:

The cold record on appeal does not give appellate judges that type of perspective. It is clear to us that there is evidence in this record to support the trial court's decision. Therefore, this record does not establish an abuse of discretion by the trial judge.

State v. Spaziano, 692 So. 2d 174, 178 (Fla. 1997). The denial of relief in this case is supported by the record, and is not an abuse of discretion. That ruling should not be disturbed.

II. THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE OVERLAP CLAIM

The second claim contained in Mills' Rule 3.850 motion is a claim that "the State of Florida's concession that the 'during the course of a felony' aggravating circumstance constitutes an automatic aggravating circumstance warrants reconsideration of this

⁹While the "I might say anything" comment was not made in the Court's presence, Ashley did appear before the Court and engage in a colloquy with Judge Eaton when he refused to be sworn. Such can properly be considered by the Court in assessing Ashley's remark.

issue and warrants sentencing relief." The Circuit Court correctly found this claim procedurally barred. (R543). 10 That disposition is correct as a matter of law, and should not be disturbed. 11 To the extent that further discussion of the procedural bar holding is necessary, this Court's 1992 opinion is dispositive:

Mills' second claim [that the felony-murder aggravator is an unconstitutional "automatic" aggravator] is also procedurally barred. We considered and rejected the substance of this claim on direct appeal. 476 So.2d at 178. Thus, we found the claim procedurally barred in Mills' first habeas corpus petition. 559 So.2d at 579. Again, Stringer is not a change in the law that warrants retroactive application, and Mills' second claim is procedurally barred.

Mills v. Singletary, 606 So. 2d 622, 623 (Fla. 1992). This claim is foreclosed by a triple layer of procedural bars. Alternatively and secondarily, without waiving the procedural bars, this claim is meritless.

To the extent that further discussion is warranted, this claim appears to be based upon an out-of-context portion of the oral argument in Mills' 2001 state habeas corpus proceeding. As this Court is well aware, one of the central issues in that proceeding was the applicability of the United States Supreme Court's decision

¹⁰The Circuit Court relied on *Medina v. State*, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1991) in support of its procedural bar holding. *Medina* is directly on point, and correctly states Florida procedural bar law.

¹¹Florida's procedural bar rules are applicable to this claim. Sireci v. State, 773 So. 2d 34, 39 n.10 (Fla. 2000); Johnson v. State, 769 So. 2d 990, 1005 n.8 (Fla. 2000); Brown v. State, 755 So. 2d 616, 620 n.3 (Fla. 2000).

in Apprendi v. New Jersey to the Florida capital sentencing scheme. This Court rejected outright any contention that Apprendi has any application in that context. Mills' attempt to twist an alternative merits argument into something that helps his case does nothing more than illustrate the correctness of this Court's ruling on the Apprendi issue by highlighting why the Apprendi analysis is an apples—and—oranges comparison in the context of capital sentencing. When stripped of its pretensions, this claim is nothing more than a motion for rehearing based upon Mills' continuing disagreement with this Court's ruling — this Court's April 12, 2001, opinion expressly held that no motion for rehearing would be entertained. Mills' attempt to circumvent that holding should not be entertained, either. 12

This Court has repeatedly rejected the "automatic aggravator" claim raised by Mills, and, in addition to being procedurally barred, that claim is wholly meritless. See, Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909 (Fla. 2000); Freeman v. State, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1072 (Fla. 2000); Thompson v. State, 759 So. 2d 650, 666 (Fla. 2000); Blanco v. State, 706 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 1997); Banks v. State, 700 So. 2d 363 (Fla. 1997); Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637 (Fla. 1995); Hunter v. State, 660 So. 2d 244, 253 n.13 (Fla. 1995). This claim

 $^{^{12}}$ In addition to being procedurally barred, this claim is also subject to summary dismissal because it is no more than Mills' continuing criticism of this Court's prior decisions. *Eutzy v. State*, 536 So. 2d 1014, 1015 (Fla. 1988).

is not a basis for relief.

III. THE PUBLIC RECORDS ISSUES

The Circuit Court correctly resolved the public records issues

-- that Court's disposition is correct as a matter of law, and
should not be disturbed.

In pertinent part, the Circuit Court's order reads as follow:

The defendant has filed demands for public records from at least fifteen agencies, one of which has several different offices, requesting a variety of public records. The demands purport to be filed under Rule 3.852(h)(3). However, the demands do not fall within the time frames established by that subsection of the rule and must be considered, if at all, under subsection (h)(3). That subsection regulates the production of public records after a death warrant is signed. [emphasis in original]

Rule 3.852(h)(3) assumes that public records have been previously demanded under Rule 3.852(g) and limits additional public records to the following categories:

- 1. Records that were not previously the subject of an objection,
- 2. Records that were received or produced since the previous request, and
- 3. Records that were, for any reasons, not produced previously.

The demands filed in this case are overly broad. For instance, many of the demands contain language such as "any and all" and designate documents by referring to "[a]ll notes, memoranda, letters, electronic mail, and/or files, drafts, charts, reports and/or other files generated or received by any and all members of your agency which are related to Gregory Mills."

. . .

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